
 

  



Our front cover shows No.78 climbing over Bleach Green on a return 

Ballymena football special. (A. Donaldson) 

 

 

 

 

 

  



COLMCILLE RAILTOUR 

The Society’s third railtour of 1970 is over the old NCC main line. 

The NCC first came into being in 1903 when the Belfast and Northern 

Counties Railway, itself an amalgamation of three much older 

companies, was purchased by the Midland Hallway Company. In 1923 the 

MR NCC became LMS NCC in consequence of the grouping in England. 

We commence our journey from York Road terminus - extensively damaged 

in 1941 in the blitz along with the loss of many valuable records - 

along the line of the Belfast and Ballymena Railway. This railway was 

completed in 1848 and from then until 1933 all trains had to reverse 

at Greenisland. Working of the main line expresses out to Greenisland 

was handled for a time by the diminutive J class 2-4-0T which started 

life as side tanks and were later rebuilt as saddle tanks - a move 

which was claimed to increase their adhesion. The adhesion weight of 

the rebuilds was not quite 27 tons so the originals must have been 

truly miniscule. To complete the picture it may be added that these 

engines were required to pull the main line expresses up the bank to 

Greenisland where the express engine proper was waiting to attach to 

the rear end. By the 1914 war the J class had been dispersed over the 

system – No.25 worked the Ballyclare branch - and their place on the 

Greenisland trains taken by two-cylinder compounds among them seven-

footer No.55. 

The start out of Belfast is almost level for three miles but then 

begins a rise at 1 in 102 for 1¼ miles followed immediately by the 

three mile climb at 1 in 76 over Greenisland loop. Quite staggering 

loads were taken on the 1 in 76 - up to twelve bogies by the Moguls - 

and our cover picture shows No.78, a 4-4-0 of about the size of a 

Midland 2P pounding confidently up with seven. It is sometimes stated 

that the Loop was built by the Northern Ireland government in 1932 as 

an unemployment relief scheme but in fact a large share of the money 

was found by the LMS. 

Above the Loop the gradient eases to 1 in 89 before Ballyclare 

Junction and the summit is at Kingsbog cabin about one mile further 

on. Here the former Ballyclare branch diverged on the Up side. This 

was closed as an economy measure in the 1930s and reopened during the 

war for storage and ambulance trains. The Greenisland Loop was opened 

in 1934 by the Duke of Abercorn and provided the first direct service 

to Derry by the NCC. 

From Kingsbog the line falls for eleven miles to just beyond Antrim, 

the average gradient being 1 in 180 and the steepest the ¾ mile 

through Dunadry at 1 in 119. This stretch has for many years formed 

one of Ireland’s finest racing grounds and, with a slight rise over 

the “hump” at Cookstown Junction, continued right up to the curve at 

Ballymena Goods. 

At Antrim the former GNR branch from Knockmore, now open only for 

goods traffic, comes in on the Down side. In pre-war days through 

coaches from Dublin were worked by this route to connect with the 



Golfers Express, always a heavily laden train which assumed truly 

gargantuan proportions north of Antrim. 

Shortly after Antrim comes Cookstown Junction, at one time called 

Drumsough Junction and still given the code DS in working timetables. 

Here the former Cookstown line diverged on the Down side, Cookstown 

Junction had, at one time, the longest relief siding on the NCC - 

Shannonstown, 1,157 yards long - and an engine shed. BCDR No.30 was 

one of the last inhabitants of this. After Cookstown Junction the line 

falls from post 27 to Kellswater and rises to Ballymena, which means 

“middle town”. 

Ballymena was at one time the headquarters of a narrow gauge empire, 

with an engine shed, a small works and extensive siding accommodation. 

The narrow gauge platform was the other face of the main Up platform. 

A relic of the narrow gauge is the double water column at the Belfast 

end of the station. Two narrow gauge lines met at Ballymena, one from 

Parkmore and the other from Larne, the latter running parallel with 

the broad gauge for some distance, a fact which gave rise to racing 

between rival trains and called forth censure from BNCR engineer Mr 

Bowman Malcolm. 

These three-foot gauge lines were absorbed by the BNCR and bequeathed 

to it a varied assortment of engine power of 0-4-2T, 2-4-2T and 2-6-0T 

types having one thing in common - dubious brakes, despite the fact 

that both Ballymena and Larne and the Ballymena, Cushendall and Red 

Bay lines had savage gradients sometimes exceeding 1 in 30. One of the 

0-4-2Ts, No.102, did a spell on the Cavan and Leitrim in 1920 where 

she was known as the “Wee Northerner” and her lack of brakes was also 

commented on by the Ballinamore men. The narrow gauge wheel drop can 

still be seen in Ballymena shed. The Larne line diverged from the 

broad gauge at Harryville near the site of the broad gauge goods yard 

(now the sleeper depot). 

On leaving Ballymena the line climbs sharply through damp cuttings to 

Cullybackey and reaches a summit at post 37½ where Dromona siding 

diverged on the Down side. This was a nasty bank through a curving, 

greasy cutting and banking assistance was often taken up to Galgorm 

crossing. Goods trains were often banked right through to Dunloy. 

Banking was carried out by the Ballymena pilot, which up until 1914 

was 0-4-2 No.26. 

From Dromona the line undulates to Dunloy before commencing the 

descent of Ballyboyland bank to Ballymoney. This bank provides a 

severe test for Up trains with short lengths as steep as 1 in 97, but 

in the opposite direction, despite its curving nature, has often seen 

very high speed running and frenzied braking for the Ballymoney stop. 

One of the thrills of the NCC, a high speed tablet exchange with the 

Manson catcher, could also be observed at Ballyboyland where tablets 

were often exchanged at 70mph. Very rarely was the exchange missed, 

but when this was the case one was treated to a full emergency stop 

with steam and vacuum brakes prior to attempting to set back a train 

of some 300 tons up an often greasy bank of 1 in 100. 



On the Up side after MP50 can be seen Ballyboyland quarry formerly the 

NCC ballast pit; the cabin on the Down side is a recent structure 

erected when Killagan lost its passing loop. At Ballymoney (“a shrubby 

place”), yet another narrow gauge railway joined the NCC, this time 

the Ballycastle. This line, in 1947, provided one of the few cases in 

Ireland of a train being snowbound for any appreciable length of time. 

It was also the scene of two runaways down the steep bank into 

Ballycastle. Its big day came at the end of August with the Lammas 

Fair when both engines – 2-4-2Ts of the two-cylinder type - would be 

in steam, complete with their wicker baskets of coal on the apron 

plates.  

 

Worsdell-von-Borries compound No.104 climbing the bank out of 

Ballycastle in 1937. (W. Robb) 

On leaving Ballymoney the line first falls and then rises through 

Macfin, former junction of the Derry Central branch, which came in on 

the Down side, and finally falls to Coleraine, said to be named Cuil-

rathain (recess of the ferns) by St Patrick. 

The NCC here bifurcates, the left hand road to Derry and the right to 

Portrush. We take in the Portrush branch on the way back but it is 

described here for simplicity and completeness. The branch, which pre-

war was considered to be the main line, climbs out of Coleraine almost 

to Portstewart station (now called Cromore) passing the new halt of 

University on the way. From a point just beyond Portstewart the line 

falls gradually at first, and then sharply after Dhuvarren - another 

new halt - into Portrush. In the Up direction the bank, involves hard 

pounding especially for heavily laden excursion trains but the fine 



GNR Q class were known to storm out with ten bogies while fire-

throwing Moguls sometimes took eleven or twelve. Perhaps the most 

interesting feature of Portrush is the harbour branch which descended 

at some unmentionable gradient, then passed over a shaky bridge to the 

pier and was used for storing sets of carriages, on busy summer 

Saturdays. Even in later years the truncated stub provided interest 

when three 2-6-4Ts were needed to pull the carriages out of it. 

The Portrush branch saw a huge variety of engines – 4-4-0 and 2-4-0, 

both compound and simple, 2-4-0T and 0-6-0, again both compound and 

simple, and finally the 2-6-4Ts and 2-6-0s. After a period of winter 

closures, it is good to see it again fully open with an intensive 

service.  

 

No.56 at Macfin with the connection off the 4:20 Cookstown from 

Magherafelt to Coleraine. This engine retained the original small 

boiler until her scrapping in 1942. (A. Donaldson) 

Leaving the metals of the Belfast, Ballymena, Coleraine and Portrush 

Junction Railway, we set out for Derry along the route of the 

Londonderry and Coleraine Railway. The present Bann viaduct was opened 

in 1924 and replaced an original structure built in 1860 further up 

river and reached by a line which left Coleraine along the route of 

the recently lifted Coleraine Harbour Railway. The new bridge has 

eleven spans, the sixth from the Coleraine side being the 

counterweight bascule span which is opened by hydraulic gear, with 

provision for hand working. 



On leaving the Bann bridge the line curves sharply to follow the river 

to Castlerock. The entire line from Coleraine to Derry is almost dead 

level. Between Castlerock and Downhill are two tunnels under the 

grounds of the Downhill castle which at one time belonged to the Earl 

of Bristol, Bishop of Derry, 1768 to 1803. The blasting during the 

construction of these tunnels was a local spectacle and boats were 

even hired from Londonderry to view one especially big blast. The 

Bishop was a well-known figure in Ireland who favoured complete 

religious equality. The “temple” which can be seen above the Downhill 

end of the tunnel was built by him in honour of a relation. On leaving 

Downhill the line skirts the base of cliffs as far as Magilligan 

station and then proceeds over very flat country through Bellarena to 

Limavady Junction. There was at one time a horse worked line down 

Magilligan point but all traces of this have vanished. This stretch of 

line is perhaps the most attractive on the NCC as on the Down side 

there are views of Benevenagh (beautiful mountain) - and on the Up 

side the Donegal coast. Limavady Junction was the junction for 

Limavady and Dungiven though the latter place lost its passenger 

service in 1933. The Limavady branch was another stronghold of vintage 

NCC engines, being worked at intervals by 2-4-0 No.1, 2-4-0 No.41 (a 

veteran double framed engine), 2-4-0 No.46, U1 class 4-4-0 No.4 

“Glenariff” and finally U2 class 4-4-0 No.81 “Queen Alexandra”. The 

branch was level to Limavady and then climbed steeply to Dungiven. The 

junction is situated on a sharp curve with a 25mph restriction through 

it. Limavady town was the place where the famous “Londonderry Air” was 

collected from a local fiddler. 

Just beyond Limavady Junction the railway crosses the runway of 

Coastal Command’s Ballykelly Airfield. Special signalling ensures 

safety of both aircraft and trains. At Eglinton the line passes the 

former Royal Naval Air Service base on the Down side and then crosses 

the estuary to Culmore where the fort can be seen on the opposite bank 

of the Foyle. In Londonderry and Coleraine days there was a station at 

Faughan Vale, between Eglinton and Culmore, but this has now vanished. 

Half a mile after Culmore comes Lisahally, only a crossing point on 

the railway but a major naval base during World War II. After the 

German surrender more than fifty U-boats were anchored here as well as 

many British and American vessels. For the remaining four miles into 

Derry the line skirts the right bank of the Foyle. On the left bank 

can be seen a mark indicating the site of the boom during the siege of 

Derry in 1689. This was forced by the Mountjoy under Captain Michael 

Browne to bring supplies to the city. 

At one time the NCC station in Derry was only one of four in the city: 

the others being the Victoria Road terminus of the Strabane narrow 

gauge and, on the other side of the river, the GNR terminus at Foyle 

Road and the Lough Swilly’s at Graving Dock. The narrow gauge line 

from Victoria Road to Strabane was entirely NCC property as shown by 

the characteristic somersault signals, but was worked entirely by the 

CDRJC steam locomotives, often after the war by 4-6-4Ts Nos. 9 and 11 

– “Eske” and “Erne” and 2-6-4T No.1 “Alice”. Connection between the 

termini was extremely tenuous. A broad gauge siding ran from the NCC 



to the narrow gauge at Victoria Road, and the GNR and Lough Swilly 

were joined by the Londonderry Port and Harbour Commissioners’ mixed 

gauge line. Traffic from one side of the river to the other was over a 

mixed gauge line, with wagon turntables at either end, which ran on 

the lower deck of the Craigavon Bridge, Difficulty in transfer was 

further added to because the buffer heights of Lough Swilly and CDRJC 

rolling stock differed. Latterly the shunting on the quays was 

performed by tractors but the LP&HC possessed two 0-6-0 saddle tank 

locomotives. 

The NCC station at Derry is built on a rather restricted site on the 

bank of the Foyle and the goods yard is located between the passenger 

station and the river. The engine shed is beside the passenger station 

on the Down side and the turntable and coaling bank are also on the 

Down side slightly beyond the platform ends. Originally, because 

engines turning fouled the main line, the turntable was interlocked 

with the signalling. 

Derry city, the venue of our tour on this occasion, has a history 

stretching back to the sixth century when St Colmcille (Columba) 

founded a little monastery on top of a hill near the city. From here 

he moved to Iona and founded the colony which brought Christianity to 

Scotland. A cross can still be seen at a small bay near Innishowen 

head where he and his men called on their way to Scotland. 

The name “Derry” means the oak grove and “London” was not added until 

the seventeenth century when the plantation of Ulster took place. In 

1689 the city withstood a siege of 105 days, helped by the walls which 

still stand in their entirety. Many relics of the siege are contained 

in the Cathedral. 

Locomotives and Performance 

In a brief brochure of this type full justice cannot be done to the 

locomotives of the NCC and its predecessors. Basically they can be 

divided into two periods - pre and post Mogul. Before the coming of 

No.90 in 1932 the NCC had been served by a most heterogeneous 

selection of engines, yet all had vanished by 1952 save for the V 

class goods and the surviving “Castle” class engines. The trains from 

1952 up till the end of steam were run almost entirely by Moguls and. 

their tank variant, the “Jeeps”. Of the more interesting engines which 

vanished in this period, the two cylinder compounds on the Worsdell-

von-Borries principle were a major loss to the enthusiast. From their 

introduction in 1892 up until the coming of the U class 4-4-0s in 1914 

this type of engine had borne the brunt of NCC passenger working. Even 

in the 1920s they could be found on many important turns and the last 

one, No.55 “Parkmount”, did not go until 1944. Her sister engine, 

No.50 “Jubilee”, was rebuilt as a two cylinder simple in 1928. These 

two engines had the largest driving wheels in Ireland - seven foot. As 

a class the NCC two cylinder compounds, both light and heavy, 2-4-0 

and 4-4-0 were economical, free steaming engines with rapid 

acceleration and a fine turn of speed, but needed skilled handling 



when starting a heavy train. The U class 4-4-0 were the first 

superheated engines on the NCC. 

In addition to the passenger compounds, there were the two goods 

engines of class E Nos. 53 and 54. The latter spent her last years 

shunting in Belfast! The former was a Cookstown engine for many years 

and worked excursions to Portrush over the Derry Central. A special 

class of two cylinder compound was designed for the narrow gauge and 

these lasted until the closure of the lines. They were of the 2-4-2T 

type with outside motion. 

Other than compounds the NCC engines were a mixed bunch averaging 

about three engines per class. The best known and most successful of 

them was the F class 2-4-0s – at one time the pride of the BNCR - and 

of the later engines the three very fine V class goods engines which 

received new boilers after the war. The V class had a fine turn of 

speed having been “clocked” up to 64 on the level near Greenisland and 

were equally at home on goods or passenger work. One of the F class 

engines, No.46, ran for a few years with a very much extended smokebox 

to accommodate a Phoenix superheater. For part of this time she was 

stationed in Derry. 

The 1930s on the NCC saw, in addition to the Moguls, the gradual 

rebuilding of the compounds into “Glen”, “Castle”, “Mountain” and 

“County” class engines. The latter two classes presented a most 

unusual spectacle of a small boiler pitched very high. Despite their 

odd appearance the Mountains were strong and fast and worked the Larne 

boat expresses with complete competence though perhaps not with the 

ease of the Castles. During and after the last war No.66 “Ben Madigan” 

was stationed at Coleraine and made occasional trips to Derry. NCC 

locomotive stock was completed by the L and K class goods engines and 

the “Donkey” – Belfast’s 0-4-0ST pilot. 

Just as the NCC engines can be divided into pre and post 1932, so can 

the type of performance expected of the engines. The coming of the 

Moguls combined with the re-signalling and straightening out of the 

crossing points transformed the NCC from a branch line of the LMS to a 

railway which by 1939 was running some of the fastest trains in 

Ireland and had the only 60mph booking ever tabled for steam except 

for the all too brief summer of 1932 on the GNR. Inevitably the 

Moguls, the new engines, collected the lion’s share of the credit, but 

nevertheless, as often happens in a railway acceleration, engines 

suspected of having a great turn of speed revealed unsuspected 

ability, even on trains which might not have seemed to require it. 

Details of performance by the small engines are unfortunately scanty 

but of great interest. One little snippet has been recorded by F1 

class 2-4-0 No.46 in which she ran from Portstewart to Coleraine in 4 

minutes 43 seconds for the 3.1 miles with a maximum of 55. Though the 

run was short and the load only three bogies, it was enough to show 

why the engine was as highly regarded. By the 1930s, when the majority 

of pre-war timing was done, the compounds were off the main trains but 

still showed their ability on the Derry Central trains, particularly 

the 4:25 to Cookstown. No.56 on this train with three bogies attained 



48½ at Whitehouse, held 29 up the bank and did 60 before Dunadry. Time 

to Antrim was 27¾ minutes - allowed 28. No.57 did even better on a run 

timed by Mr Nock when she attained 64½ at Dunadry. Their work over the 

Derry Central and Cookstown lines was equally smart and despite the 

short sections speeds of 50mph and over were often recorded. On 

another occasion No.57 running from Randalstown to Toome covered the 

9¼ miles in 14¼ minutes, with a maximum of 55½. Later in the same run 

between Upperlands and Tamlaght she attained 53, covering the 3½ miles 

in 5½ minutes (allowed 7); the load was three bogies, about 70 tons 

full. 

Of the 4-4-0 simples, the Castles undoubtedly ruled the roost, though 

the Mountain class also turned in consistently fine work. In the 

period just before the war these engines handled the bulk of Larne 

line work and also took a few turns on the main line and since this 

brochure concerns the main line we must confine ourselves to there. 

On one of these occasions No.79 “Kenbaan Castle” took the North 

Atlantic Express to Ballymena in exactly 35 minutes. Thereafter, 

however, the engine was opened out to such an extent that with six 

bogies Portrush was reached in the amazing time of 37½ minutes. 

Schedule was 43. Full details of this, the fastest run between 

Ballymena and Portrush, can be found in the Railway Magazine for May 

1937. At the other end of the scale from the North Atlantic Express, 

No.85 was faced with the task of hauling a 270 ton excursion from 

Ballymoney to Portrush and set about it with such vigour that a 

maximum of 61 was attained before Macfin, passed in 5 minutes 26 for 

the 3.9 miles. Unfortunately signals spoiled the rest of the run. 

The Castlerock - Coleraine section of the old NCC was not one where 

great locomotive performance is normally expected and the schedule 

varied from 9 to 11 minutes for the 5.8 miles. It was over this 

stretch that the County class 4-4-0 engines showed their paces. For 

example, No.61 “County Antrim” on two occasions covered the distance 

in 8¼ minutes with a load of 150 tons and maximum of 56. The same 

engine with a lighter load took only 7.51 from Castlerock to Coleraine 

with a maximum of 58. Running with Glen and Mountain class engines is 

scarce but on one run No.4 “Glenariff” ran from Ballymoney to 

Ballymena in 25¼ minutes with six bogies. Speed was sustained at 45mph 

up Ballyboyland bank and a maximum of 68 recorded beyond Cullybackey, 

On a Down Coleraine train No.62 “Slemish” with 100 tons ran to Antrim 

in 27 minutes with a minimum on the loop of 32 and a maximum of 64 at 

Dunadry. 

Last but by no means least in this short summary of NCC locomotives 

and their performance pre the 1939-45 war come the Moguls. Their 

performance on the North Atlantic Express and Portrush Flyer is 

fortunately well documented, and it is sufficient to say here that 

they left behind them a legacy of brilliant performance that has 

remained the yardstick by which all subsequent running has been 

measured. Two runs may be briefly mentioned. On the first No.92 was on 

a Ballymena to Larne Harbour turn with a load of 200 tons. A very fast 

start was made, passing Cookstown Junction in 9 minutes. Speed was 



well sustained up the bank with a final minimum of 51 at Doagh. 60mph 

was attained at Ballyclare Junction before slacking for Monkstown 

Junction. The engine was then worked up to 61 at Trooperslane, 68 

before Carrickfergus and continued to run at over 60mph to Glynn where 

she was clearly eased. The time to Larne Harbour (45 miles) was 48½ 

minutes. 

The second run shows the capabilities of the Moguls on a really heavy 

train. No.91 was faced with the task of taking eleven bogies - almost 

350 tons full - to Portstewart on the Portrush Flyer schedule of 75 

minutes to the restart. With this vast load the engine made a game 

start, accelerating to 48 before Whitehouse but on the 1 in 76 the 

load told and the speed fell to 23 at Mossley though the engine then 

accelerated to 30 on the 1 in 89 to Ballyclare Junction. To this point 

a minute had been dropped, but from here a fine sprint down the bank 

was made with 68½ after Doagh, 74½ at Dunadry and 73 through Antrim. 

Cookstown Junction “hump” was cleared at 60mph and Ballymena passed 

exactly on the 38 allowed, at 45mph. More fine work followed with 54 

after Cullybackey, 58 at Glarryford, 64 at Dunloy and after a maximum 

of 73 down Ballyboyland, the engine was stopped by signals in 

Ballymoney in 58 minutes - allowed 59 to pass. 

During the war the NCC engines of all classes were worked almost into 

the ground hauling troop and ambulance trains far beyond their nominal 

capacity. After 1946 the need for new engines became urgent and so the 

Mogul Tanks or Jeeps arrived. Unfortunately the NCC timetables never 

recovered their pre-war magnificence, but despite this the new 

engines, as can be seen from the following runs, showed that when the 

opportunity arose they could turn in performances up to the standard 

of their tender cousins. 

In 1958, due to difficulties with the new diesel units, steam took 

over for one glorious week of high speed running. Short though it was 

this spell showed that the Jeeps - one of which we shortly hope to own 

- were as fast and reliable timekeepers as the Moguls. In the NCC pre-

war speed up the section from Coleraine to Derry was somewhat 

neglected by timers, perhaps because the glamour trains and cheap 

fares went to Portrush, and it is fairly safe to say that running such 

as was accomplished over it in 1958 had never been seen before and 

never will come our way again. To run from Derry to Limavady Junction 

in under 20 minutes meant smart work and yet this was shaved to just 

over 17 in 1958. A good run over the 12.2 miles from Limavady Junction 

to Castlerock would have been about 15 minutes or slightly under but 

here again whole minutes were cut. An ‘impossible’ time of 7 minutes 

for the 5.8 miles between Castlerock and Coleraine was set - I never 

knew this kept by diesel - and yet the tanks got to within a few 

seconds of it. Where previously a 70 was rare on the Derry express in 

regular steam days now it became almost common. This was real express 

running to Derry. 

Even later in 1961 and 1962 some fine efforts by the tanks were noted 

and also by Mogul No.104, the last of the class to work regularly on 

the NCC. One run in particular worth mentioning was by No.6 when she 



ran from Castlerock to Limavady Junction in under 14 minutes with a 

maximum of 73. In the opposite direction a diesel failure gave No.4 

the chance to sprint out of Derry on two bogies and average almost 70 

from Rosses Bay to Ballykelly halt and then be checked by a 

disbelieving signal man at Limavady Junction who could hardly have 

expected a train to cover the 11¼ miles from Lisahally in just over 10 

minutes. If the Society’s tank can live up to such a reputation there 

will be few complaints. Anyone who would like to contribute to her 

purchase and repair please see our treasurer on the train. 

Over the last few years, conditions have been unfavourable to fast 

steam running. Major overhauls ceased in 1965 with the shopping of 4, 

6 and 54 and although steam continued in daily use on the stone 

trains, only minor repairs were undertaken, Also the gradual 

disappearance of the automatic tablet exchangers have made it 

impossible to maintain high speed averages over long stretches of 

single line. Despite all this, however, recent locomotive work has 

been good. 

Almost the typical main line train today is the heavily loaded 

Portrush excursion, and the particularly good examples were timed in 

summer 1967 when engine 55 was first choice at York Road. 

After picking up a party at Doagh on a 9:50 Sunday School special, the 

run to Ballymena with ten bogies took 21 minutes 22 with a 72 maximum 

before Muckamore, 56 minimum over Cookstown Junction and 69 at 

Kellswater. On restart we took 7 minutes 57 to pass Cullybackey at 43, 

then attained 60 at Glarryford and ran the ensuing nine miles to 

Ballyboyland in 8 minutes 51 seconds, where a tablet drop finally 

arrested our brisk progress. A week later, the same engine again 

showed how easy it was to keep time with 330 tons; as with no checks 

at all we ran from Ballymena to Coleraine in 36¼ minutes, including 16 

minutes 59 for the 17 miles from post 42; the maximum was 66. 

As far as service trains go, a most entertaining run was provided by 

No.52 on the 8:50 Derry in the summer of 1965. Although bad stops 

prevented any good sectional times, splendid work was done with eight 

bogies - notably 60 between Cullybackey and Glarryford (start to stop) 

and on restart 64 through Dunloy and 70 down Ballyboyland. From 

Ballymoney to Coleraine, however, one of the best recent runs was with 

No.51 on the 8:35 Derry. With a load of only six bogies, she was able 

to make a breath-taking start (67 at Macfin, passed in 4 minutes 55) 

and this was enough to ensure a 9 minute time to Coleraine. 

A fairly typical example of the days of automatic tablet exchanging is 

provided in the other direction, by No.1 and a seven coach Up Portrush 

relief. Time from Ballymoney to Ballymena was 24 minutes 27 with a 42 

minimum up Ballyboyland, 67 at Glarryford, and after easing for 

Dunminning, 69 maximum down Cullybackey. 

The Ballymena - Belfast section resolutely defies compression and a 

few examples must suffice. One of the best recent climbs of the bank 

was made in 1968 with No.51 and ten bogies. Despite a gate check after 

Cookstown Junction and passing Antrim at 53, we accelerated to 58 and 



fell only to 51½ on the climb. Even with two more signal checks, 

actual time was only 36 minutes 28 or just over 35 nett. Most 

interesting of all, the maximum was only 62! 

Five years ago, the 2:10pm ex Derry provided the last regular non-stop 

booking from Ballymena to Belfast and since time was often lost 

through out of course crossing stops, etc., the lateness at Ballymena 

inspired some first class pieces of enginemanship. On one such run, 

No.4 and nine bogies ran to Belfast in 34 minutes 3, including even 

time over the 17½ miles from Kellswater to Kingsbog summit. 

Really sparkling work between Coleraine and Derry was fairly 

infrequent in latter steam days, due to the fact that most steam 

trains tended to be heavily loaded excursions. But one bright run with 

56 and ten bogies out of Derry produced 60 before Limavady Junction, 

passed in 23 minutes 45, 47 before Bellarena, 60 between there and 

Castlerock and 62 before stopping in Coleraine. However, a herculean 

effort with No.51 and less than eleven bogies bettered this run, with 

a 21½ minute time to Limavady Junction with a maximum of 62. 

The last regular light steam train on this section was the summer 1:05 

ex Derry, which rarely exceeded four bogies but trailed a long string 

of vans, some of which were attached intermediately at Coleraine and 

Antrim. 

With four bogies and three vans, No.3 made a good showing on this 

train a few years ago. Times were 10 minutes 34 to stop in Eglinton 

(maximum 64), 10 minutes 17 thence to the Junction (maximum 68) and 6 

minutes 42 to Bellarena (maximum 56). And with the same load a few 

weeks later No.53 ran from Bellarena to Castlerock in 9 minutes 5 with 

a maximum of 64mph. 

- o O o - 

THANKS: Once again our best thanks go to Northern Ireland Railways 

without whose continuing co-operation today’s railtour would 

not be possible. 

- o O o - 

This brochure was written by W.T. Scott who wishes to acknowledge the 

assistance of A. Donaldson and J.A. Cassells. It has been produced by 

the Magazine Sub-committee of the Society. 


